[image: image1.png]


ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	MARY J. IRLAND, 

                                                 Employee, 

                                                 Applicant

                                                   v. 

STATE OF ALASKA, DEPARTMENT

OF CORRECTIONS,

                                               Self-Insured 

                                               Employer,

                                               Defendant.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case Nos. 201009623M, 

                               201017720,

                               201014355,

                               201014354,

                               201014353
                               200915541, 

                               200911403. 

AWCB Decision No.  13-0078
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on July 8, 2013


Mary Irland’s December 14, 2010 workers’ compensation claim for temporary total disability, permanent partial impairment, medical and related transportation expenses, interest, attorney fees and costs, was heard in Anchorage, Alaska on February 27, 2013, a date selected on September 25, 2012.  Attorney William Erwin represents Mary Irland (Employee).  Ms. Irland testified through deposition and did not attend.  Assistant Attorney General M. David Rhodes represents self-insured employer State of Alaska (Employer or State).  Jane Schutter testified in person.  David Norcross, P.A. and Dennis Stumpp, M.D. testified telephonically. Heidi Forster, formerly known as Heidi Kelley, and physician’s assistant Brent Ursel, P.A., also testified by deposition.  

On February 28, 2013, the designated chair was called out of state on a family emergency.   The record closed when the Board next met on May 21, 2013.   


ISSUES
Employee contends she developed “multiple chemical sensitivity” after exposure to chemicals on at least seven occasions between August 10, 2009 and February 24, 2010, while employed as a licensed practical nurse at Spring Creek Correctional Center in Seward, Alaska.  As a result of workplace chemical exposures, Employee contends, she continues to suffer symptoms when exposed to a myriad of other common chemicals.  She seeks an award of temporary total disability (TTD) from November 3, 2010 and continuing, permanent partial impairment (PPI), medical and related transportation benefits, interest, attorney fees and costs.  Employer contends Employee’s work-related symptoms consisted of acute minor irritation of the eyes, mouth and throat, which resolved within days of each alleged exposure, and no further benefits are due.  

1. Were workplace chemical exposures the substantial cause of Employee’s claimed disability or need for medical treatment?

2. Is Employee entitled to continuing medical and related transportation benefits?

3. Is Employee entitled to TTD benefits? If so, in what amount?

4. Is Employee entitled to PPI benefits? If so, in what amount?

5. Is Employee entitled to interest, attorney fees and costs?


FINDINGS OF FACT
The following facts and factual conclusions are established by a preponderance of evidence:

1. While employed as a licensed practical nurse (LPN) for Employer at its Spring Creek Correctional Center (SCCC) in Seward, Alaska, Employee reported experiencing physiological symptoms following a series of chemical exposures between August 10, 2009 and February 24, 2010.  (Reports of Injury, for exposures on August 10, 2009 [AWCB Case No. 200911403]; September 17, 2009 [AWCB Case No. 200915541]; January 11, 2010 [assigned AWCB Case No. 201009623]; January 12, 2010 [AWCB Case No. 201017720]; January 21, 2010 [AWCB Case No. 201014353]; February 8, 2010, [AWCB Case No. 201014354]; and February 19 - 24, 2010 [AWCB Case No. 201014355]).

2. Prior to her full-time employment in Seward, Employee, from Geneva, New York, worked 13-week rotations as a travelling LPN through a medical employment agency which sent her to locations throughout the U.S., including Vermont, Florida, Arizona, New Mexico, then Dillingham and eventually Seward, Alaska.  (Irland deposition).

3. Prior to her workplace exposures in Alaska, and dating back to at least 1987, Employee’s medical records include complaints and diagnoses of sore throat, coughing, choking, “chronic tonsillitis,” and tonsilloliths,
 for which laser tonsillectomies were performed (SIME
 binder 0002, 0106, 0082, 0101, 0103, 0105, 0106, 0113, 0145, 0154, 0155, 0156, 0158, 0184, 0242, 0245, 0268), bronchitis (SIME 0084), hoarseness (SIME 0158, 0245), abdominal pain (SIME 0118, 0167), diarrhea and constipation (SIME 0122, 0139), irritable bowel syndrome (SIME 0140, 0163), GERD,
 dysphagia,
 epigastic pain, esophagitis, hiatal hernia, gastrointestinal discomfort, chronic active gastritis, acid reflux, positive H. pylori colonization,
  dyspepsia and pyrosis.
   (SIME 0142, 0168, 0170, 0180, 0181, 0183, 0186, 0194, 0197, 0204, 0205, 0206, 0210, 0211, 0227, 0228, 0239).   She had a history of chronic fatigue dating back to at least 1995 (SIME 0099, 0102, 0117, 0142-0143, 0144, 0160, 0161, 0167, 0268), including as recently as three months prior to the first chemical exposure in August, 2009 (SIME 0268), and for “B12 deficiency,” which she treated with Vitamin B12 supplementation (SIME 0144, 0155, 0184, 0194, 0214, 0243), as well as a history of taking nutrition supplements including multivitamins, Vitamin E, and cranberry pills (SIME 0167, 0191, 0214, 0228, 0229, 0243, 0251, 0258).  She had a history of right ear and head symptoms, including headache, radiating down in her right posterior and anterior neck and right side (SIME 0088, 0142, 0242),  cervical disc disease dating to 1990 (SIME 0091), left shoulder, neck and back pain, and a constellation of disparate symptoms her physician termed “weird” (SIME 0001, 0082, 0088, 0180, 0184), symptoms at her right scalp and neck termed “dysesthesia
 (SIME 0143), and “nonspecific symptoms” (SIME 0163). She reported allergy to latex, causing swollen lips, tingling around the mouth, wheezing, nasal discharge and contact dermatitis (SIME 0135, 0203, 0214, 0220, 0258).  She had a history of arthritis, presumably osteoarthritis, which she treated symptomatically.  (SIME 0144, 0160, 0163).  She had a history of cold sores on the mouth (SIME 0144),  synovial cyst in the mouth (SIME 0160), facial spots or lesions (0271, 0273), pruritic rash on her upper back consistent with shingles (SIME 0162) and hair loss (SIME 0160, 0229).  She had a history of complaints for dizziness, vertigo, unsteadiness, lightheadedness and nausea.  (SIME 0142, 0231, 0234, 0262).  She received treatment for allergic rhinitis with facial fullness and pressure, for post-nasal drip, and for sinus or nasal congestion and infection (SIME 0142, 0158, 0231, 0234, 0242, 0245).  She had a history of lower extremity pitting edema,
 elevated liver transaminases, and complaints of weight gain.  (SIME 0160, 0161, 0163, 0253, 0268).   She had a partial thyroidectomy in 1987, with continuing thyroid problems including hypothyroidism and lymphocytic thyroiditis, also known as Hashimoto’s disease.
 (SIME 0002, 0032, 0036, 0049, 0088, 0090, 0092, 0100, 0101, 0117, 0146, 0160, 0161, 0184, 0191, 0214, 0243, 0268).  She reported a history of cholelithiasis
 or gallstones.  (SIME 0262, 0264).  She was treated for anxiety (SIME 0088, 0229), adjustment disorder (SIME 0192), and with Celexa (SIME 0229, 0251), an anti-depressant. She has a history of multiple endoscopies, colonoscopies, and laser tonsillectomies for repeatedly reported throat and gastric symptoms.  (Record, i.e. SIME 0194-0207, 0221, 0223, 0226-0228, 0245).  There is a gap in the medical records between October 4, 2005 and August 6, 2008, her first medical record in Seward, Alaska.  This gap in medical records coincides with the Employee’s career as a traveling nurse.  (Irland deposition at 21; SIME binders; SIME report).  

4. Employee previously reported symptoms, similar to those she is reporting here, having arisen at another workplace.  In May, 2001, Employee complained of a three week history of sinus pressure, nasal congestion, pain over the left eye and left maxillary sinus, postnasal drip, persistent cough, and occasional hoarseness, stating that “at work she seems to have low grade temperatures of around 99.9.”  Her physician diagnosed acute sinusitis, possible allergic rhinitis, and prescribed Flonase, 2 sprays each nostril four times a day for two weeks, and Claritin D, a prescription allergy medicine.  (SIME 0158; Observation).  

5. On August 6, 2008, Employee saw Brent Ursel, P.A., of Glacier Family Medicine (Glacier) in Seward, Alaska, complaining of abdominal pain and nausea.  She reported a history of gallstones.  Abdominal sonogram revealed cholelithiasis but without specific evidence of biliary obstruction or acute cholecystitis.
  Mr. Ursel’s assessment was abdominal pain, history of gallstones.  (SIME 0262, 0264).  On August 20, 2008, Employee saw Mr. Ursel complaining of back pain.  (SIME 0267).

6. On January 8, 2009, Employee began full-time employment as an LPN at SCCC.  (All Reports of Injury list hire date).  While living in Seward, Employee lived with her husband in a recreational vehicle during the summers, and a rented cabin during the winters. (Irland).  

7. At a May 5, 2009 office visit with Mr.  Ursel, Employee’s chief complaint was fatigue, and increasing allergy symptoms.  She requested her thyroid level be checked, and “refill” of a prescription for Allegra D, another prescription allergy medicine.  Mr. Ursel assessed “fatigue” and “hx (history) of thyroid problems.”  No medical record from Glacier reflecting the original prescription for Allegra-D has been filed. (SIME 0268; Record).
8. At a June 10, 2009 office visit with Mr. Ursel, Employee reported several spots on her face “that have changed and become a little darker,” weight gain, and her belief her thyroid was swelling.  Mr. Ursel diagnosed “facial lesions” and “enlarged thyroid.”  Referral to a dermatologist was planned.  Thyroid sonogram revealed enlarged left thyroid, which was aspirated.  Pathology demonstrated benign tissue consistent with Employee’s reported history of Hashimoto’s thyroiditis.  (SIME 0271, 0273, 0277-8).
9. On June 25, 2009, Mr. Ursel referred Employee to a Dr. McClendon, for evaluation of her gallbladder and upper abdominal pain, stating “Mary Jane has been told in the past she had gallstones and that she would eventually need to have them removed.  An u/s  (ultrasound) … showed choleliathiasis but w/o specific evidence for biliary obstruction or acute cholecystitis.”  (SIME 0275).
10. On August 6, 2009, Mr. Ursel referred Employee to James O’Malley, M.D. for surgical evaluation of her thyroid.  (SIME 0208).
11. On August 10, 2009, a chemical spill occurred during scheduled maintenance of the SCCC boiler system.  SCCC maintenance personnel drained several hundred gallons of ethylene glycol mixture from the main SCCC boiler.  After the system was drained, the lines were flushed with cold water to remove all residual glycols.  During the flushing process, it was discovered that maintenance personnel had inadvertently left a drain-valve open, causing a release of liquids into an overhead crawlspace directly over the patient treatment station in SCCC’s medical wing.  The liquids migrated into and through ceiling tiles and down walls, subsequently dripping onto a workstation and the floor.  (Survey Report, Nortech Environmental Engineering, September 18, 2009).   Employee was on duty in the medical wing at the time of the spill.  She assisted in the rescue of medical records before evacuating the area, then left work to go home and shower.  (Irland). 

12. On August 11, 2009, Employee completed a Report of Injury (ROI) reporting having suffered “Nausea - Burning - Eyes - throat tongue Burning - Chemical taste – Lungs – seemed burning.  With coughing” following a chemical spill at work the previous day.  Employee described the chemical as draining down the walls from the ceiling above.  In the ROI, Employer, through nursing supervisor Heidi Kelley, described the details of injury as “Maintenance drained Boiler system with Dowtherm® SR-3, then flushed it without closing valve.”  Employer later identified the chemical as Dowtherm® SR-1.  Employee’s injury was assigned AWCB Case No. 200911403.  (Report of Injury, filed August 18, 2009).

13. On August 12, 2009, Employee first sought medical care for symptoms related to the exposure.  She saw Mr. Ursel at Glacier, reporting “Large Chemical Spill at work of Antifreeze on 8/10/09.”  She complained of headache, burning throat, bad taste in mouth, nausea, immediate skin irritation but no trouble breathing.  On examination Mr. Ursel noted both conjunctiva red and irritated, eyes slightly watery, but with lungs clear, and with no skin irritation.  He assessed “Glycol exposure,” cleared Employee to return to work without restriction, with return to clinic “prn,” as needed with no specific return date.  Complete Blood Count (CBC) and liver and kidney blood testing were all returned normal.  (Chart Note, Mr. Ursel, August 12, 2009, SIME 0282, 0285).  On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102 Mr. Ursel noted Employee was medically stable, could return to regular work, and would not sustain permanent injury.  (SIME 0281).

14. On August 14, 2009, Employee returned to Mr. Ursel reporting itchy and swelling throat and tongue, and feeling lightheaded, after returning to work on August 12, 2009.  On examination Mr. Ursel noted nasal turbinates slightly swollen with clear mucous, swollen uvula, tonsils inflamed.  He assessed inflamed uvula and muscle tension headache, prescribed salt water gargles and Nasonex, and took a throat culture which grew normal oropharyngeal flora.  (Chart Note, August 14, 2009, SIME 0287-8).  On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102, Mr. Ursel noted Employee could return to regular work.   (SIME 0286).

15. On August 21, 2009, Employee reported to Mr. Ursel that another chemical spill occurred at work.   This report is not confirmed by a Report of Injury (ROI) or other evidence.  She was complaining of slight headache, nose and throat burning, and “acid reflux worse.”  She reported she was retaining fluid in her ankles and would like a diuretic prescribed.  She denied lightheadedness or dizziness.  On examination Mr. Ursel noted nasal turbinates slightly swollen, with uvula slightly irritated, but not as irritated or enlarged as the previous week.  Her lungs were clear.  Mr. Ursel again assessed glycol exposure.  Lasix was prescribed for her ankle swelling.  Mr. Ursel’s notes do not attribute Employee’s assertion she was retaining fluid in her ankles, or that her acid reflux was worse to the chemical spill.  (Chart Note, August 21, 2009).  On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102, Mr. Ursel noted Employee was medically stable and could return to regular work. (SIME 0289).

16. Also on August 21, 2009, in response to the ethylene glycol spill, Nortech Environmental Engineering, Health & Safety (Nortech) performed an Indoor Air Quality Survey and investigation.  The purpose of the assessment was to quantify the airborne concentration of ethylene glycol, assess exposures to workers and inmates, assess cleanup efforts, and identify and recommend procedures for minimizing worker exposures.  (Nortech Report, September 18, 2009, at 2).  Nortech personnel conducted interviews with maintenance personnel, senior management, and medical staff, conducted thorough visual inspection of the impacted work areas, as well as any area with any potential for exposure, defined as all areas on the same HVAC (heating, ventilation, air conditioning) system, reviewed Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS), and conducted air quality sampling.  (Id. at 2-3, 5).  Ethylene glycol was found to be the only listed hazardous material contained in the spilled fluid.  (Id. at 2).  Nortech noted in its report that at the time it conducted its investigation 11 days after the spill, no signs of glycol were noted, and the cleanup efforts “appeared to be very thorough.”  Nortech  reported  “All impacted materials that were not hard-surface had been removed from service, including approximately fifty square-feet of ceiling tile at six different locations.  One work station in the medical treatment general areas was noted as being removed completely from the wall. . . All impacted materials were removed from the area and . . . processed by SCCC hazardous material personnel, in concert with the ADEC.”  (Id. at 4).  Nortech concluded contamination on the walls was superficial, migrating down the outside of painted blocks, and inspection showed concrete wall cavities were not impacted.  It found no additional materials were impacted or required removal or additional efforts.  (Id. at 6).   Nortech was informed the State of Alaska, Division of Occupational Safety and Health (AKOSH) had inspected the day following the spill, but AKOSH’s investigation was pending, and no report was available.  No report from AKOSH has been filed with the Board.  (Id. at 3, Record).  

17. Nortech noted the ethylene glycol product used in the SCCC boiler system is obtained as a concentrate for dilution with water depending on intended use location.  The manufacturer’s recommendations for use in most Alaska environments is a 62% glycol, 38% water ratio.  The investigation concluded, however, that the release occurred after the 62/38 mixture had been successfully drained and the line was being flushed with cold water in order to purge any residual ethylene glycol remaining. (Id. at 5).  Nortech was told the total volume of liquid released during the flushing involved between six and ten gallons.  (Id.).   This volume of spillage was corroborated by David Norcross, P.A., the facility’s physician’s assistant and Employee’s supervisor, who arrived when called about the spill and saw fluid draining down one wall, through a sprinkler, and observed between a half-pail or full pail collected and set aside.   (Norcross).   Other reporting noted the spill as cleaned up using a twelve gallon wet vac.  (SIME 0535-6).  Nortech noted that a ten gallon spill of the mixture would result in a six gallon spill of glycol, but since the spill occurred after the glycol mixture had been flushed, and during a flush of the empty lines with cold water, the amount of glycol spilled was less.  Jane Schutter, another LPN on duty at the time and a claimant in another case alleging she suffers “multiple chemical sensitivity,” estimated the spill volume at greater than 10 gallons.  (Schutter).  Employee estimated the spill volume at between 50 and 70 gallons.  (Irland at 81).     

18. Nortech collected air samples for ethylene glycol analysis in ten locations:  the main patient treatment room, Nurse 3 patient treatment room, two overhead crawlspaces, east and west ends, medical records room, mental health office, staff break room, education office, property room, and Post 5-A corridor.  Air sampling chain of custody was maintained.  (Id. 6-7).  Airborne concentrations of ethylene glycol were not detected at nine of the ten sampling locations.  At one location, the main patient treatment room, ethylene glycol was present at a level of less than two percent of the industry standard recommended ceiling limit for exposure.  Nortech noted ethylene glycol is not a carcinogen, and poses no exposure risk at room temperature because of its low vapor pressure, although adverse effects including irritation of eyes, skin, nose, throat, lassitude, headache, dizziness, central nervous system depression, abnormal eye movements and skin sensitization have been reported as a result of exposure to heated aerosolized mists.  (Id. at 8-9).  

19. It is undisputed the August 10, 2009 spill occurred during a cold water flush of the HVAC system following SCCC maintenance’s purge of the 62%/38% ethylene glycol/water mixture, and thus involved hyper-diluted ethylene glycol at or below a 70 degree room temperature.  (Nortech Report at 8-9; Irland at 71, 83-85).

20. Nortech noted that international ethylene glycol standards vary, individuals may have different sensitivities to chemicals, and may become hyper-sensitive, more susceptible and/ or develop allergic reactions to certain chemicals from ethylene glycol exposure.  (Id. at 8-9).

21. Mr. Norcross testified credibly he believes from his own observations and personal knowledge that the Nortech report is “entirely accurate.”  (Norcross).  He further testified the initial cleanup from the glycol spill was performed by maintenance employees, guards and inmates, none of whom complained of symptoms, and as the Physician’s Assistant in charge of the medical unit, he would have seen those individuals had they reported symptoms.  (Id.).  

22. On September 10, 2009, on referral from Mr. Ursel, Employee saw surgeon James O’Malley, M.D., concerning difficulty swallowing related to goiter and underlying thyroid disease and gallstones.  Surgery was discussed as a future option if either condition should become more symptomatic.  This medical visit was a follow-up for Employee’s pre-existing thyroid, goiter and gallstone issues. There is no evidence this referral and medical appointment was related to Employee’s workplace chemical exposure.  No Physician Report form has been filed attributing this doctor visit to a work place event. (Letter from Dr. O’Malley to Mr. Ursel, September 10, 2009, SIME 0292; Record).

23. On September 17, 2009, chemicals utilized in the x-ray room or lab at SCCC were reportedly spilled. (Aware Safety Services, Aware Consulting, LLC, Report, October 27, 2009: Employee Report of Injury, filed October 22, 2013)

24. On September 30, 2009, Aware Safety Services, Aware Consulting, LLC (Aware) conducted an industrial hygiene inspection at SCCC in response to the reported x-ray chemical spill.  The Aware report erroneously states the spill occurred on September 10, 2009, rather than September 17, 2009 as Employer and the supervising nurse reported on an October 22, 2013 ROI.  (Id.).  The Aware investigation consisted of an evaluation of the MSDS for the various chemicals used during x-ray film development, potential worker exposure to airborne components of chemicals during routine x-ray film development, and air sampling for hydroquinone, ammonia and sodium bromide, chemicals the investigator noted are also commonly used in x-ray development.  Laboratory analysis of all samples revealed airborne concentrations below detectable levels.  (Id. at 2-3).  Aware noted “It is important to understand that not all workers will be protected from adverse health effects even if their exposures are at or below occupational exposure levels . . . a small percentage of the population may experience adverse health effects due to individual susceptibility, a pre-existing medical condition, and/or hypersensitivity.” (Id. at 3).  

25. Mr. Norcross testified credibly he was present at the time of the x-ray chemical spill, cleaned it up himself with paper towels and suffered no health problems.  He stated Employee was also present when this occurred, and began complaining of symptoms immediately.  Concerning Employee’s complaints the x-ray equipment continued to emit noxious irritants, he noted SCCC’s x-ray technician never expressed concerns about the machine, he and the x-ray technician run together, and to his knowledge the x-ray tech never suffered any problems as a result of a spill or spills of x-ray chemicals.  (Norcross).

26. At an October 8, 2009 office visit three weeks after the September 17, 2009 x-ray chemical spill, Employee reported the spill of x-ray chemicals to Mr. Ursel.  She reported that while at work she experienced tingling on her mouth and tongue, felt dizzy or light headed, and drunk the next morning.  She reported no trouble breathing, and no hives or rashes.  Mr. Ursel reviewed the MSDS for the x-ray developer/fixer, which he reported showed releases sulfur dioxide gas, and contains some glycol.  Mr. Ursel wrote “Pt. could be hypersensitive to glycol.”  He assessed environmental exposure to irritant.  The plan was to consider referral to an allergist and prescription for Singulair, another allergy medicine.  Employee was to return as needed.  (Chart Note, October 8, 2009, SIME 0298).  On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102, Mr. Ursel noted Employee could return to regular work.  (SIME 0297).

27. On October 18, 2009, Employee completed an ROI reporting she suffered “HA (headache) – Burning Eyes, Throat to Stomach-Tongue & uvela (sic) tingly Swollen, Lips Swollen - Waking up in Drunken State” from a chemical spill in the x-ray room on September 17, 2009.  The injury was assigned AWCB Case No. 200915541. (Report of Injury for September 17, 2009).  (ROI, completed October 22, 2009, filed October 28, 2009).

28. On December 7, 2009, Employee returned to Mr. Ursel reporting that after returning to work following time off in California, she experienced burning eyes, lips, mouth and throat, swollen lips, and a lesion on her upper lip.  Mr. Ursel noted the lesion was consistent with  impetigo, and prescribed Bactroban cream.  He assessed environmental response and planned referral to an allergist.  On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102, Mr. Ursel noted Employee was medically stable and could return to regular work.  (SIME 0299, 0301).

29. On January 11, 2010, Employee reported suffering “Difficulty Breathing, Eyes, Nose (unintelligible) Burning, watery mouth & (unintelligible) Swollen, Burning Down to Stomach – Cough choking – Orbital Migraine.  Nausea & Drunken State.”  Employer, again through nursing supervisor Heidi Kelley, described the mechanism of injury as “exposed to pepper spray in the segregation mod causing adverse symptoms.”  The injury was assigned AWCB Case No. 201009623. (Report of Injury for January 11, 2010).  Employee does not appear to have sought medical attention following this reported exposure.  (Record).

30. On January 12, 2010, Employee reported suffering “Sharp pain front of Head to back.  Tingling of mouth, lips Burning & red.  Burning from mouth to stomach – Nose Eye Running.  Swelling uvla (sic).  Next morning woke up Drunken State.”  Employer, describing the mechanism of injury, referred to Employee’s exposure to pepper spray the previous day, but added “adverse symptoms continued . . .” the next day when Employee was exposed to “wax/stripper from the gym floor & cleaning product.”  The January 12, 2010 exposure was initially assigned the same case number as the report of injury from the previous day, AWCB Case No. 201009623, but was corrected and assigned AWCB Case No. 201017720.  Employee does not appear to have sought medical attention following this reported exposure.  (Record).

31. On January 21, 2010, Employee reported suffering “Lips, mouth, throat, Red (unintelligible) throat.  Eye burning,” as body parts effected from another exposure.  Employer, through Ms. Kelley, noted the exposure resulted from vapors emanating from the x-ray room when the 
x-ray processor was being tested.  (Report of Injury for January 21, 2010).

32. Mr. Norcross does not recall complaints of a second spill involving x-ray chemicals,  following the September, 2009 spill he cleaned up.  (Norcross).
33. On January 22, 2010, Employee returned to Mr. Ursel reporting she had an exacerbation of symptoms following an exposure the previous day, caused when a nurse was cleaning the pharmacy with a disinfectant mixed with bleach.  (Chart note, Mr. Ursel, January 22, 2010).  Employee reported watery, blurry eyes, burning nose and throat, and lower lip slightly swollen.  On physical examination Mr. Ursel noted nasal turbinates very swollen, pharynx red, inflamed. Lungs clear.   He assessed “multiple chemical sensitivity syndrome” and referred Employee to Mary DeMers, D.O.  (SIME 0303-0308).  He ordered blood testing which was returned normal.   On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102, Mr. Ursel noted Employee was not medically stable, but could return to regular work.  (SIME 0303).    Employee completed an ROI for the January 21, 2010 exposure on February 8, 2010.  (ROI for January 21, 2010 exposure, signed by Employee February 8, 2010).
34. Mr. Ursel testified his experience and training is in family practice with an emphasis on urgent care, and he has had no toxicology training related to exposure to ethylene glycol or other chemicals.  He testified that prior to treating Employee, he had no experience treating people with “multiple chemical sensitivity,” and in fact had never heard of chemical sensitivity or read anything about it.  (Ursel at 21).   Ms. Irland and another SCCC nurse and claimant, Heidi Kelley, brought him “reams and reams of things that they had found
. . . on the Internet” about it, and he did some Internet research as well.  Mr. Ursel testified the symptoms Employee reported or he observed which were consistent with multiple chemical sensitivity and which influenced his diagnosis included dry eyes, nasal irritation, lip irritation and blisters, throat irritation, stomach irritation, skin rash, memory and cognitive issues.  He had not reviewed Employee’s medical history prior to his diagnosis, and was unaware Employee complained of persistent throat irritation dating back to the 1990s, vertigo in the past, and had been diagnosed with adjustment disorder.  Mr. Ursel conceded Employee suffers Hashimoto’s thyroiditis, which symptoms include irritated throat, puffy or irritated face, and hoarse voice.  (Id. at 27-29).   He admitted he did not know whether the spilled chemical was ethylene or propylene glycol, was unaware of the temperature of the glycol mixture which spilled, but agreed it would have to be at a high temperature to cause symptoms.  (Id. at 30).  He admitted he did not know the heat transfer fluid was less than 100% glycol, or that the leakage was of the cold water flush after a 62/38 glycol/water mixture was drained, such that the leakage was of a hyper-diluted substance consisting primarily of water.  He admitted those facts of which he was unaware would be significant because the higher the concentration, the more likely an exposure would cause a physiological effect.  (Ursel at 32-33).  Mr. Ursel testified he has treated four nurses from the SCCC medical unit for their reported chemical exposures:  Employee, witness Jane Starr (now Schutter), and Heidi Kelley.  He did not identify the fourth individual.  At their request, Mr. Ursel referred them to Grace Ziem, M.D., who they had located through an Internet search.  (Id. at 33-34).  Mr. Ursel stated the treatment Dr. Ziem prescribed for Employee was Vitamin B-12 injections and nutritional supplements, and when told by one of the claimants the monthly cost of this treatment “thought, yikes . . . it seems like a lot.”  (Id. at 35).  Mr. Ursel conceded there are no scientific studies to clearly link Employee’s symptoms with chemical exposure, no clear-cut diagnostic tests, and his diagnosis was based primarily on patient reporting a cause and effect relationship between reported exposure and symptoms.  (Id. at 37-38).  He concurred with the statement, purportedly from the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, that “multiple chemical hypersensitivity syndrome is presently an unproven hypothesis and current treatment methods represent an experimental methodology,” and agreed he is not an expert in toxicology or multiple chemical sensitivity (Id. at 40-41).  He conceded he would defer to a toxicologist on any causal relationship between Employee’s symptoms and her workplace exposures.  (Id. at 41-42).  He admitted that in retrospect, his diagnosis should have been more general than “multiple chemical sensitivity syndrome,” such as “occupational exposure.”  (Id. at 24, 44).   Mr. Ursel expressed no opinion on whether Employee suffered permanent impairment.  (See Box 29 on alll Ursel Physician Report forms). 
35. On February 8, 2010, Employee went to the Providence Hospital emergency room in Seward, reporting lip swelling and fogginess.  She was seen by family practice physician Ray L. Robinson, M.D.  Dr. Robinson’s notes reflect Employee’s reporting repeated chemical exposures at work, past symptoms consisting of burning nose, mouth and tongue, occasional mouth sores, and her denial of respiratory symptoms, eye irritation and rashes.  Dr. Robinson noted discoloration around Employee’s neckline, though reported it was not inflammatory or pruritic.  Dr. Robinson opined Employee’s symptoms are not characteristic of a glycol exposure, which would likely cause transient respiratory symptoms only in situations where aerosolized concentrations are severe.  Employee was discharged to return to her attending physician if no improvement.  (SIME 0310-0312).
36. Also on February 8, 2010, Employee completed her portion of the ROI for the January 21, 2010 exposure.  On Employer’s portion of the ROI, Ms. Kelley described Employee’s exposure as ongoing from January 21 - 27, 2010, and caused by x-ray processor chemicals and “unknown substances.”  The case was assigned AWCB Case No. 201014353.  (ROI, signed February 8, 2010).  
37. On February 9, 2010, Employee returned to Mr. Ursel reporting lips tingling, throat burning, nauseated, drunk feeling, throbbing headache, nose still burning, lips are cracked and burning, following clogged drain at work.  Mr. Ursel noted a lacy rash present on Employee’s throat and forearms, nasal turbinates very swollen.  He again assessed “multiple chemical synsitivity (sic) syndrome,” noted Employee had an appointment with Dr. DeMers later in the month, prescribed “Celexa inc (increase) to 20 mg.”  Employee was advised to return as needed.  (SIME 0315).  On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102, Mr. Ursel noted Employee was not medically stable, but could return to regular work that day.  (SIME 0313).

38. On February 10, 2010, Employee also completed an ROI for a February 8, 2010 exposure.  She reported suffering “Burned Lips – Confusion Drunken State.  HA – Rash – Neck Arms. Red – Sores on tongue (tip).”  She described the mechanism of injury as coming from fumes in the medical area where the drain into which “the janitor throws chemicals” was backing up, the janitor plunged the drain numerous times, emitting a toxic smell.  She reported she left work and went to the emergency room.  This case was assigned AWCB Case No. 201014354.  (Report of Injury for February 8, 2010).

39. Mr. Norcross testified he was present when a drain clogged, two inmates ran a snake down the drain and white “pebbles” came up.  He testified credibly he smelled no fumes at the time, and a plumber from outside the facility said the clog was the result of a calcium buildup in the drain.  (Norcross).
40. On February 19, 2010, Employee returned to Mr. Ursel reporting an exposure to concentrated cleaning solution and a return of symptoms including coughing, post nasal drip, feeling loopy, headache and rash flare.  On objective examination Mr. Ursel noted lacy rash remained present at nape and neck, left and right turbinates swollen, cracked lips, swollen uvula, lungs clear.  He assessed “multiple chemical sensitivity syndrome,” and ordered blood work to include testing for benzene and phenol exposure.  The blood work was returned normal.   (SIME 0317-0319).  On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102, Mr. Ursel noted Employee was not medically stable but could return to regular work the following day, February 20, 2010.  (SIME 0316, 0320).

41. In a February 24, 2010 ROI, Employee reported suffering “Burned Lips – Confusion Drunken State. HA.  Rash – Neck Arms – Red – Sores on tongue (tip) - Coughing – Nausea” from February 19 - 24, 2010, from exposure to cleaning products.  This injury was assigned AWCB Case No. 201014355.  The Employer portion of the ROI was not completed.  (Report of Injury, signed by Employee February 24, 2010).  

42. On February 25, 2010, Employee was seen by Mary D. DeMers, D.O., M.P.H., an internist with emphasis on preventive medicine and occupational health. Dr. DeMers took a full history, performed a physical examination, and assessed (1) “mucosal irritation with sinus congestion and cough with history of allergic rhinitis.”  Dr. DeMers suspected Employee’s symptoms were exacerbated by the chemical irritants at work, noting “but high risk of mold growth.”  (2) rash to neck and face, “may be due to the same irritants plus scratching may have introduced tinea versicolor.”
  (3) “headaches with sensation of altered mental status plus history of migraine aura.”  Dr. DeMers noted “sinus congestion may be stimulating migraines which could lead to decreased orientation.”  Dr. DeMers prescribed a prednisone taper for the sinus congestion, nasal saline for nasal irritation, and ketoconazole, an anti-fungal medicine, for the rash.  (SIME 0322-0325).  On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102, Dr. DeMers diagnosed “sinus congestion, cough, rash, headaches,” noted Employee was not medically stable, but did not take her off work.  (SIME 0321). 

43. On March 3, 2010, Employee returned to Glacier Family Medicine and was seen by Tiffany Blackburn, LPN.  Blood was drawn and urine collected.  (SIME 0335).  Testing was performed to detect benzene and phenol.  Results showed none detected or within normal limits.  (SIME 00332-0333).  On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102, Mr. Ursel noted Employee was not medically stable, but was released for regular work.  (SIME 0321).  

44. On March 11, 2010, Employee again appeared at Glacier and was seen by Mr. Ursel.  He noted Employee’s lips were red, slightly swollen and irritated, and a lacy rash was present on her neck.  Blood was drawn and urine collected.  (SIME 0335).  Testing was performed to detect ammonia, hippuric acid, benzoylglycine, methylhippuric acid, trichloroethylene, trichloracetic acid, trichloroethanol, benzene and phenol.  Results showed either none detected or within normal limits.  (SIME 0337-0341).  On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102, Mr. Ursel noted Employee was not medically stable, but could return to regular work.  (SIME 0342).  

45. On March 30, 2010 Employee was seen again by Mr. Ursel complaining of a multitude of problems, including her pre-existing thyroid, gallstone and acid reflux issues, as well as her lips continuing to burn and become inflamed, and rash remained on her neck (SIME 0348).  She claimed the medicines Dr. DeMers prescribed caused her nausea, vomiting and lip swelling, and she had ceased using them.  (SIME 0348).  Dr. Ursel noted the lacy rash remained on her neck, her upper lip was slightly red, and a cold sore type lesion was present on her upper lip.  He prescribed Prevacid for her acid reflux and discussed possible referral to a specialist for her gastric issues.  She was to return as needed.  (SIME 0347-8).  On a completed Physician’s Report Form 07-6102, Mr. Ursel noted Employee was not medically stable, but could return to regular work.  (SIME 0345).  

46. On April 15, 2010, Employee returned to Mr. Ursel reporting fatigue, headache, nasal/sinus discharge, sores in mouth, heartburn, rash, and tongue swelling.  On examination Mr. Ursel  noted no sinus tenderness, turbinates unremarkable, nasopharynx unremarkable, conjunctiva normal, no oropharynx or larynx inflammation or lesions in mouth, small blisters on tongue, lungs clear, respiration normal, lacy rash present at base of neck anteriorly.  He assessed “multiple chemical sensitivity syndrome,” and noted Employee would be seeing Dr. Grace Ziem in Maryland in June.  Employee was given an off work slip for the following day, to return to work Saturday, April 17, 2010.  (SIME 0354-0355).

47. On May 11, 2010, Employee returned to Mr. Ursel reporting increased fatigue, fogginess, foul taste in mouth, edema, increased memory loss following an incident the prior week where “drains were clogged.  They removed the P traps and vapors come up out of the seward (sic, sewer) lines. . .”  No ROI was filed for this reported exposure.  Mr. Ursel noted nasal turbinates swollen, pharynx and lungs clear, lacy rash present on neck.  He assessed “multiple chemical sensitivity syndrome.”  On a completed Physician Report form he noted Employee was not medically stable but was released to work.  (SIME 0356-9).  

48. On June 10, 2010, Mr. Ursel gave Employee an off work slip for the period June 13, 2010 through June 15, 2010, noting she was  seeing Grace Ziem, M.D., in Maryland, on June 15, 2010.  (SIME 0361).  There is no evidence any of these three days were scheduled work days for Employee, and Employee has not made a claim for TTD for these dates.  Employee’s claim for TTD benefits begins November 3, 2010.  (Prehearing conference summary, September 25, 2012). 

49. On June 15, 2010, Employee was seen by Dr. Ziem.  Dr. Ziem obtained a social and medical history from Employee and performed a physical examination.  Dr. Ziem states she performed “U.S. Government recommended methods for evaluation of neurotoxicity,” and “U.S. Government recommended methods for evaluation for toxic encephalopathy,” but does not identify what testing methods were implemented.  Dr. Ziem diagnosed toxic encephalopathy, upper and lower reactive airway disease “and other results of exposure to ethylene glycol and probably with further development chemicals with numerous exacerbations.”  (SIME 0377-0383).  Dr. Ziem appears to have been provided recent medical records from Mr. Ursel, Dr. Robinson and Dr. DeMers, but not with medical records pre-dating the August, 2009 chemical exposure.  (Dr. Ziem report, June 15, 2010; observation).

50.  In her June 15, 2010 report and later reports, Dr. Ziem made the following assertions: 

(a) Employee’s health prior to her employment at SCCC “was good . . . no fatigue or lack of endurance . . . She had no frequent or chronic health problems prior to her exposure.”  (SIME 0377).

(b) “I did a comprehensive evaluation today on Mary Jane Irland . . . who . . . developed serious illness from an exposure to DOWTHERM® SR-1, 95% ethylene glycol, at the Spring Creek Correction Center in Seward, Alaska on August 10, 2009.”  (Id.)

(c) Employee was prescribed Allegra-D, Protonix,
 ranitidine,
 and furosemide
 for the first time as a result of symptoms from chemical exposures at work.  (SIME 0378; observation).

(d) “Remediation [of the August 10, 2009 spill] was improperly conducted . . . A shop vac was used and was observed to have collected between 75 and 100 gallons.  This was discarded in a sewer drain in the medical area that drained into a holding pound (sic pond);” (Ziem report, June 15, 2010, at 2, SIME 0378).  

(e) “There is an ongoing problem of leaks from the glycol ether heat exchange system that preceded the major August 10, 2009 spill.”  (SIME 0362).

(f) “The use of propylene glycol has not ceased.”  (Id.).  

(g) The SCCC furnace boiler had gone 23 years without maintenance prior to  August, 2009 (SIME 0377);

(h) When Dow Chemical was called, it indicated a specialist was needed to clean the lines correctly, especially since they had not been maintained for so long. (Id.);

(i) With respect to the January 11, 2010 exposure to pepper spray:  “. . . this is not only used for inmate control . . . but also for inmate punishment and target practice on inmates during training .  .  .”(SIME 0378).

(j) Employee had a “past good math ability.”  (SIME 0379).

(k) Employee’s lungs were clear on examination because she had spent many hours in a nontoxic office and had stayed overnight in “nontoxic housing.”  (Id.).

(l) Employee suffered an adrenal-damaging event from surveillance undertaken by Employer.  (SIME 0582).  

(m) Employee’s symptoms were exacerbated by ammonia and mold in Dr. Stumpp’s office.  (SIME 0552).  

(n) Employee’s lips and tongue swelled from exposures in Dr. Stumpp’s office, but Dr. Stumpp refused to look at her lips and tongue.  (Id.).  

(o) “They continue to harass her from the prison and Alaska Workers’ Comp., to the point where it’s affecting her recovery . . . Pt gets better with my treatment, then worse after harassment.”  (SIME 0495).  

(p)  “Unnecessary exposures occur as well, including the excessive use of pepper spray . . . After this abuse of inmates, they are sent to the medical unit for evaluation.”  (SIME 0378).

(q) Employee “is being forced to see an IME.”  (SIME 0513). 

51. In her report, Dr. Ziem was critical of Dr. Robinson, accusing him of malpractice for his presumed “lack of action” with respect to conditions at SCCC.  She found fault with Dr. DeMers’ examination of Employee, and her suggestion Employee may be reacting to mold, stating “There is not likely to be a risk of mold growth with leak of a solution containing 95% ethylene glycol.  Mold would hardly find this to be viable for growth.”  (SIME 0380-0381).

52. Dr. Ziem opined EE was not able to work in the current environment at SCCC due to her severe chronic illness until exposure is significantly reduced.  (SIME 0382).  In her off work slip Dr. Ziem wrote “She needs to be near here for a few weeks to help medical issues.”  (SIME 0412).  On another prescription form Dr. Ziem prescribed “Medically needs foods grown without pesticides (sometimes called organic) and for meat – free range/wild; for fish – wild caught, because of impaired detoxification from occupational exposure.”  (SIME 0413).  On another prescription form Dr. Ziem also prescribed “nontoxic lodging” during her stay in Emmitsburg, Maryland, asserting it was medically necessary and “only the Cascade Inn provides that . . .” (SIME 0425).

53. Dr. Ziem noted she would be conducting testing to determine substances necessary to reduce Employee’s inflammation and sensitization.  (Id.).  She prescribed Ginkgo biloba extract, 120 mg per day; Silymarin (milk thistle extract 400 mg. per day); Bilberry extract, 300 mg per day; Cranberry extract, 400 mg per day; Carotenoid mixture containing 5 mg each lycopene, beta-carotene, other carotenoids, and 10 mg each lutein and zeaxanthine, per day; Activin grape seed proanthoxyanidin 400 mg per day; Epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) 400 mg per day;  Magnesium maelate 400 mg per day prn for muscle cramping; Magnesium Cl/acetate 18% - 2-3 tsp prn for cardiovascular research, all of which Employee was instructed to purchase from Key Pharmacy, a compounding pharmacy, and an 800 number was provided.  (SIME 0406).    Dr. Ziem also prescribed Perque B12 (hydroxocobalamine), 2 mg sublingual tablets, also obtained through an 800 number; Potassium iodine, 150 mcg per drop, 3-4 drops daily mixed with water; Carlson’s Cod Liver Oil, 2-3 tsp daily; Mild C 500 mg one to three times daily, more with repeated exposures; and Gamma E Gems, 500 mcg daily.  The last three items were available through an 888 telephone number.  (SIME 0409). 

54. Dr. Ziem ordered micronutrient testing through SpectraCell Laboratories, Inc..  The lab report reflects Employee exhibiting deficiencies in Vitamin B12, Calcium, Selenium and “Spectrox™ Total Antioxidant Function” a “micronutrient” trademarked by SpectraCell Laboratories.  (SIME 0416-0417).

55. On June 21, 2010, Employer began paying Employee TTD benefits of $1,033.00 per week.  (AWCB database, Payments screen).

56. On June 24, 2010, Employee placed an order with Key Pharmacy for a 25 day supply of “100 ‘Antioxidant Ziem’ 1-29-10 4/day capsules.” The cost to Employee for the 25-day supply of “Antioxidant Ziem” was $121.89.  (SIME 0426).  During the next four months, Employee purchased an additional 120 days supply of “Antioxidant Ziem,” totaling an additional $356.38.  (SIME 0426).  In addition to the Antioxidant Ziem, during this four month period, Employee purchased other items prescribed by Dr. Ziem, including Magneseium malate, L Glutathione, Selenomethionine, Riboflavin,  Vitamin B-12, an aero-nebulizer electric micro-pump, the necessary battery pack, 240 syringes, a sharps container, benzoalkonium chloride wipes, “Hyper-Implante #2 400 Billion Sachet packs,” “Repleniss #7 packs 55 Billion Unit,” Fortefy #45 capsules, Dipan-9 capsules and an amber glass bottle, all at a cost of $2,860.83 for the four month period.  (SIME 0427-8).

57. On July 5, 2010, Employee returned to Mr. Ursel.  Reason for Visit is listed as “Wants to go over paperwork from Dr. Ziem and make a plan.”  The chart note states Employee has not returned to work, has an EME scheduled in Oregon, and will follow up with Mr. Ursel on her return.  (SIME 0437).

58. On July 15, 2010, Employee was seen for an eye exam by Conley Marcum Jr., O.D., an optometrist, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Dr. Marcum diagnosed “dry eye syndrome,” provided a prescription for Restasis, and following an eye exam prescribed refractive lenses.  (SIME 0433).  Employee has worn prescription eye glasses since she was in middle school.  (Irland at 62).

59. On July 19, 2010, apparently following a telephone call from Employee, Dr. Ziem wrote a prescription stating “Ms. Irland medically needs her husband to accompany her to an IME/other/exam/procedure to assist her, as he understands her condition and needs.”  (SIME 0446).  Dr. Ziem’s notes from that telephone call include the statement:  “She went to ophthalmologist who felt chemical exposure has affected eyes, R > L.”  Dr. Ziem’s notes from that telephone call include the following:  “They want to send her to Dr. Bardana, who is NOT a treating doctor for RADs (Reactive Airway Disease),” and “PLAN: . . . Get info/CV on any IME.”  (SIME 0447).  Dr. Marcum is an optometrist, not an ophthalmologist.  (SIME 0422; SIME 0477; observation).

60. On July 26, 2010, Employee returned to Mr. Ursel reporting “She recently saw an eye Dr. and was told that she has nerve damage to the tear glands of her eye and isn’t producing enough moisture for her eye.”  (SIME 0458).  Documentation from the July 15, 2010 optometry exam states testing demonstrated Employee did not have nerve damage to her eyes.  (SIME 0477).  

61. Employer retained Emil J. Bardana, Professor of Medicine, at Oregon Health & Science University, Division of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, to perform an independent medical evaluation (EME) on Employee and three other nurse-claimants.  Arrangements were made for Employee’s travel to Oregon for the EME.  (Record).

62. On July 28, 2010, Dr. Ziem wrote on a prescription form:

NAME:  Dorothy Locke, Mary Jane Irland, Heidi Kelley, Janet Starr – 

Dr. Bardana is an allergist with no training in toxicology or occupational medicine.  Nor does or has he been a treating doctor for chemically injured patients.  To use him as an IME creates a danger to these (Alaska) patients : I have seen such doctors because of lack of experience clinically inadvertently order tests which cause serious, prolonged exacerbation and/or have office environments with exposure that causes harm and prolonged exacerbation.  Please call per questions.  P.S. These patients don’t have allergies !!!” 

63. On August 2, 2010, responding to a July 28, 2010 letter sent by Dr. Ziem to both Employer’s adjuster and to Dr. Bardana,  Dr. Bardana withdrew as Employer’s independent examiner citing perceived threats received from Dr. Ziem: 
 “On July 28, 2010 I received an extraordinary letter . . . from Dr. Ziem who is an advocate and provider for individuals with “environmental illness” (EI).  In the past this symptom complex was referred to as “multiple chemical sensitivity” (MCS) . . . Dr. Ziem expresses serious medical concerns about my selection as an independent medical examiner . . . .

Rather than requesting that I avoid certain tests or exposures that she opines might lead to “extremely severe, longstanding, debilitating exacerbations,” she derides my qualification as an examiner by indicating I am only an “allergist” without training in toxicology or occupational medicine who has never treated “chemically injured patients.”  She also concludes my office is “not sufficiently safe to prevent significant and very possibly disabling exacerbation” . . . She makes these representations without ever visiting my office and with a total lack of insight into my educational background, patient experience, scientific publications, and professional interests over a 40-year career.

Dr. Ziem describes patients harmed by physicians such as myself which subsequently precipitated malpractice actions because of “disabling harm” that occurred during the evaluation process.  In a not so veiled threat, Dr. Ziem proclaims “it would be her ethical responsibility . . . that if such harm occurred and the patient decided to sue for malpractice, she would support the action by offering her testimony against me . . .

After nearly 40 years of practice as an academic physician, I am appalled by Dr. Ziem’s threatening letter.  Her intent to influence the evaluation process in the name of “patient safety” is a perversion of the traditional process.  Though I find Dr. Ziem’s intimidating demands lacking in any scientific credibility, I do not doubt her underlying threat . . . At this point in my career I am unwilling to expend the energy, expense, or emotional turmoil of defending my actions in a routine medical evaluation in the judicial arena.  Even grossly frivolous suits require a serious and aggressive defense.  Hence, I have decided to withdraw as an examiner.  I do so with some professional remorse knowing the Workers’ Compensation system has been perverted by juristic intimidation . . . 

64. On August 6, 2010, in response to an August 2, 2010 prescription from Dr. Ziem requesting an “ophthalmologist consult,” stating “Toxic, irritant repeated exposure to chemical vapors x 10 hours resulting in onset blurred vision, floaters, eyes & head pain . . . , changes in tear ducts etc.”, on August 6, 2010, Employee obtained the following from optometrist Dr. Marcum:  
Mary Jane reports problems with short term memory loss associated with Multiple chemical syndrome from chemical exposure.  Mary Jane has moderate to severe dry eye syndrome and is suspicious for glaucoma based on her optic nerve cupping.  Her intraocular pressure is normal however.  A nerve fiber analysis was done using a GDX; this did not reveal any significant nerve damage. . . I placed her on Restasis for her dry eye and recommended Omega 3 capsule supplement to aid her tear flow along with artificial tear usage. . . (SIME 0477).
65. On August 13, 2010, Employee saw ophthalmologist Matthew Guess, M.D., of Ophthalmic Associates in Anchorage.  Dr. Guess’  record reflects Employee complaining of blurriness and occasional pain in the right eye greater than left, stating she was involved in several chemical spills related to work in the past year, and states she has floaters and occasional “stars’ around objects with a “pulsing” feeling in her right eye.  He added “Pt. states she has some memory loss, and that is the reason the optometrist at Costco performed nerve fiber analysis on her.”  Dr. Guess diagnosed “Dry eye syndrome – moderate” and opined Employee’s use of L Glutathione prescribed by Dr. Ziem is not recommended for someone with dry eye syndrome.  Dr. Guess also diagnosed “mild cortical cataracts, both eyes,” and glaucoma suspect.  Dr. Guess completed the physician portion of the Physician Report form presented to him by Employee (the top half of the form is completed in Employee’s handwriting).  In Box 22, which asks the physician whether the condition is work-related, Dr. Guess checked “Undetermined,” and wrote “common problems seen in people w/o chemical exposure.”  (SIME 0481, 0484; observation).

66. On August 18, 2010, in a telephone message left for Dr. Ziem, Employee complained “They continue to harass her from the prison and Alaska Workers’ Comp., to the point where its (sic) affecting her recovery.”  (SIME 0495).  In Dr. Ziem’s Clinical Notes, apparently written after returning Employee’s call, Dr. Ziem noted Employee’s report the eye doctor told her her eye pressure was fine.  Dr. Ziem also wrote:  “EEOC, Ombudsman Office – Anchorage 269-5290,   Long discussion with . . . State of Alaska DOC Commissioner’s office, explained general medical problems of this type illness, accommodations, believe I relayed my concern about harassment repeatedly. There is a FOIA in Alaska . . . (Id.).

67. On August 23, 2010, Dr. Marcum provided Employee with a letter which reads:   

Mary was seen for an eye exam on July 15, 2010.  She reported having Multiple Chemical Syndrome (MCS) from exposure to various chemical simultaneously . . . Her exam revealed that she does have a moderate to severe case of dry eye syndrome . . . Looking at the cause/effect relationship from MCS, its (sic) highly likely that Mary’s dry eye syndrome is related. Its (sic) also possible that optic nerve damage may result since this syndrome is apparently related to nerve tissue damage/loss . . . Glaucoma is a disease that is progressive and effects are seen slowly over time.  Mary’ refractive condition is not a result of MCS, however.  (SIME 0433; August 23, 2010 letter from Dr. Marcum). 

68. On September 8, 2010, Employee had another telephone consult with Dr. Ziem.  Employee’s chief complaint was “They stopped her insurance, refuse to give her insurance. They gave WC the wrong info. on her total income (tell them it’s more than it is).”  (SIME 0503).  Employee’s claim does not seek a compensation rate adjustment.  (Claim; observation).

69. On September 20, 2010, Employee called Dr. Ziem about a re-scheduled EME.  Dr. Ziem’s chart note reads:  “Pt. has been forced to see an IME.  Quality Inn/Holiday Inn Renton, WA : is not chemically free → cannot do accommodations . . . Dr. Dennis Stump (sic) who occ rents an office not in his control and whose staff are unable to do accommod (and Dr. Stumpp per staff is not able to treat exacerbations if they did occur (sic).”  (SIME 0513).  

70. On October 11, 2010, Employee was seen for an EME by Dennis Stumpp, M.D., M.S. Dr. Stumpp is Board Certified in Occupational Medicine.  (EME Report, October 11, 2010).

71. Dr. Stumpp obtained from Employee a history of her present illness, and past medical, family, social and occupational history.  Employee denied any past history of allergies, asthma or hay fever, other than her thyroidectomy and thyroid condition and a 2-3 year history of GERD, denied past hospitalizations, surgeries and chronic medical conditions.  (SIME 0526).  On physical examination Dr. Stumpp noted no lesions over the lips or mouth; faint hyperpigmentation of her cheeks, neck and dorsal surfaces of her forearms; nose and throat without erythema or discharge; normal bowel sounds; normal neurologic test response; and mental status with normal affect and no evidence of thought disorder.  (SIME 0528-0529).  Spirometry was obtained indicating normal pulmonary mechanics.  (SIME 0529).  Dr. Stumpp did a chronologic medical records review of records from August 6, 2008 through August 23, 2010.  He examined the MSDS for Univar Caustic Soda Anhydrous; Dowtherm® SR-1 Heat Transfer Fluid containing ethylene glycol 95% and potassium hydrogen phosphate less than 3%; Dowfrost® 40 Heat Transfer Fluid containing propylene glycol 37 to 43%; Kodak RP X-OMAT Developer containing potassium sulfite, hydroquinone, glutaraldehye bis (potassium bisulfate), glutaraldehyde, sodium sulphite and 1-phenyl-3-pyrazolidinone; Kodak RP X-OMAT LO containing ammonium thiosulphate, sodium thiosulphate, ammonium bisulphate, acetic acid and sodium bisulphate; and trisodium phosphate.  (SIME 0535).  He reviewed an oil and hazardous substances spill notification about the August 10, 2009 spill, reporting the spill was sucked up with a 12 gallon wet vac, large fan placed to disperse fumes, all spilled material recovered, with none going down the drains, a citation and notification of penalty regarding an August 19, 2009 inspection, presumably by AKOSH, for failure to implement respiratory protection program including fit testing when different respirators were used for ethylene glycol and dipotassium hydrogen phosphate, and because hazardous materials training was not provided.  Dr. Stumpp also reviewed the AWARE Consulting industrial hygiene monitoring report, noting air samples obtained showed no detectable level of sodium bromide, hydroquinone, ammonia or particulates.  He also reviewed the Nortech report, noting primarily non-detectable levels of ethylene glycol but for one sample at a level of .65 mg per meter cubed.  (SIME 0535-536).
72. Dr. Stumpp assessed history of gastroesophageal reflux, preexisting; post right hemithyroidectomy, Hashimoto’s thyroiditis with ongoing need for thyroid supplementation; history of gall stones currently asymptomatic; history of preexisting seasonal allergic rhinitis; symptom complex including burning of eyes, nose and throat, sores in mouth, cough, shortness of breath, tingling of the lips, light headedness, lethargy and fatigue in response to a variety of odorous challenges occurring both at and away from work.  (SIME 0536).  

73. From his examination Dr. Stumpp reported Employee, dissatisfied with local practitioners, located Dr. Ziem online, and traveled to Maryland to see her.  He noted Dr. Ziem has seen Employee only once, and based primarily on patient reporting placed Employee on vitamins and herbs based on micronutrient testing which has no demonstrated efficacy for a diagnosis of toxic injuries.  (SIME 0537).  Examining Dr. Ziem’s website, Dr. Stumpp reported Dr. Ziem espouses “neurosensitization as the medical key to treatment of chemical injury.”  Dr. Stumpp opined that in spite of the extensive bibliography Dr. Ziem provides for this treatment, the prescribed intervention with vitamins and nutrients have not been shown in any randomized trials to be effective in treatment of MCS or other chemical related illness.  Dr. Stumpp labels Dr. Ziem’s theories and treatment “twentieth century snakeoil.”  Dr. Stumpp noted “multiple chemical sensitivity” has been relabeled “idiopathic environmental sensitivity” because there is no evidence it is related to chemical exposure nor does it represent a sensitivity as defined in the medical sense.  Dr. Stumpp noted Employee’s only objective medical findings have been some nasal irritation and a small lesion consistent with cold sore on her upper lip which were not present when he examined her on October 10, 2010.  (SIME 0537).  Dr. Stumpp noted Employee has a preexisting history of allergic rhinitis which could account for her symptomatology.  He opined she may well have experienced some transient nasal irritation in response to some of her exposures at work, particularly the pepper spray.  (Id.).  Dr. Stumpp opined there is no objective evidence of an occupational disease, Employee’s employment was not the substantial cause of any condition or symptoms, nor did the air quality at SCCC aggravate, accelerate or combine with a preexisting condition to produce the need for any specific treatment for a specific disability.  (SIME 0538).  Dr. Stumpp opined Dr. Ziem’s treatment and testing were not warranted by objective findings, Dr. Ziem’s recommended treatment is not an acceptable medical option, there is no scientific basis for the treatment Dr. Ziem has prescribed, and it is outside the tenets of mainstream medicine and toxicology.  (Id.).  Dr. Stumpp further opined Dr. Ziem’s treatment would not promote recovery from individual attacks caused by a chronic condition, and no further diagnostic tests nor any further treatment is recommended.  (SIME 0538-0539).  He opined Employee does not have a diagnosable occupational condition.  He concluded Employee has the physical capacities to perform the job of LPN at SCCC, noting Employee continued working at SCCC for 10 months following the August 10, 2009 spill, until taken off work by Dr. Ziem in June, 2010, and there is no evidence she was unable to perform her job due to air quality conditions during that time.  (SIME 0539).

74. On October 13, 2010, Employee returned to Mr. Ursel.  Blood drawn and tested reflected low thyroid stimulating hormone, and Vitamin B-12 level at greater than 2000, where the reference range was 200-1100 pg/mL.  (SIME 0542-0546).  

75. At a well woman exam with Dr. Ursel on October 15, 2010, the examiner’s notes state   “Chart lists Latex as allergy – pt. states she was tested for Latex in Maryland this year and has no allergy to Latex – per Dr. Ziem.”  Employee was provided “refills of her chronic medication,” although those are not identified.  (SIME  0548, 0550). 

76. On October 18, 2010, Employee had another telephone consult with Dr. Ziem.  She reported to Dr. Ziem reacting to vehicle exhaust at the airport, air freshener in taxi cab, moldy smell and ammonia presence at Dr. Stumpp’s office, and reported to Dr. Ziem her lip and tongue swelled, and she was coughing, but Dr. Stumpp would not look at her lip and tongue.  She reported that after Dr. Stumpp left the room she was gasping, coughing, choking, very weak, eyes was throbbing, she vomited in the sink, her skin was worse, with scabs and sores, headache, cognitive confusion, lethargic, nausea, eyes burning and throbbing.  (SIME 0552).  Dr. Stumpp’s report reflects he performed a complete physical exam, including of Employee’s head, ears, eyes, nose and throat and all was normal.  (SIME 0528).

77. In a November 1, 2010 telephone consult with Dr. Ziem, Employee reported she was somewhat better following the EME, but was still coughing.  (SIME 0553).

78. On November 3, 2010, based on Dr. Stumpp’s report, Employer controverted all benefits after November 2, 2010.  (Notice of Controversion, November 2, 2010).

79. On November 30, 2010, using a lab kit provided by Dr. Ziem, Employee had blood drawn at Mr. Ursel’s office, which she was then packaging and shipping through Fedex from Anchorage.  (SIME 0555). 

80. The testing of this blood sample was apparently done again at SpectraCellll Laboratories.  Testing was done for 33 micronutrients, including B Complex Vitamins, Amino Acids, Metabolics, Fatty Acids, Other Vitamins, Minerals, Carbohydrate Metabolism, and Antioxidants.  All were within normal limits.  Spectral Laboratories found only one “micronutrient” level “deficient,” that being SPECTROX™ Total Antioxidant Function, apparently a SpectraCell Lab trademarked substance.  (SIME 0558). 

81. Prior to another telephone consult with Dr. Ziem on December 2, 2010, the message Employee left for Dr. Ziem was “Needs new Rx’s written for her other insurance.  Also:  Needs to discuss meeting with new attorney.”  Employee reported a recent episode of unpredictable weakness with pain at her right eye, arm and leg with numbness and tingling after being near a gas stove.  Dr. Ziem prescribed oxygen at onset of unilateral numbness and continuing until symptoms have cleared for one-half to one hour.  (SIME 0563-4).

82. On April 12, 2011, Employee returned to Mr. Ursel reporting right hip pain.  Mr. Ursel noted Employee walked with normal gait, did not limp, stood and sat without difficulty, reported pain with straight leg raise and hip abduction.  X-ray revealed early degenerative changes.  (SIME 0575, 0577).

83. In another telephone consult with Dr. Ziem on April 18, 2011, Employee reported needing a new prescription for Spectrox™.  Another prescription was written, including for 27 vitamins, minerals and micronutrients.  (SIME 0581).

84. On another prescription form concerning Employee, completed on April 18, 2011, Dr. Ziem wrote:

“Surveillance on this patient damages her toxic-induced adrenal damage and MUST STOP FOR MEDICAL REASONS.  In addition, when conducted on a woman, it is not only a direct adrenal-damaging event, but because a woman cannot distinguish a potential mugger, thief, rapist or commercial spy, it has the effect of a criminal act.  When commited (sic) against a disabled person qualified under ADA, it is also a probable violation of Federal Law.”  (SIME 0582).

85. Neither Employer, its attorney, nor its adjuster ever requested or approved any surveillance on Employee.  (Letter from M. David Rhodes to William Erwin, May 24, 2011; Affidavit of Roberta Highstone, February 6, 2013). 

86. Employee returned to her home in New York on or about June, 2011, and in March, 2012 began working again as a full-time LPN at a Veteran’s Administration hospital.  (Counsel opening statement; SIME Report at 5).
87. On October 15, 2011, Dr. Stumpp provided an Addendum to his EME report after reviewing the Aware and Nortech memoranda, stating the additional reports did not alter the conclusions reached and set forth in his initial EME report.  (EME Addendum).  
88. On July 9, 2012, Employee was examined for an SIME by Edward B. Holmes, M.D., MPH, MSc., an occupational medicine and medical toxicology specialist.  (SIME Report, Dr. Holmes, July 27, 2012).  
89. Dr. Holmes obtained a history from Employee of her present illness, as well as a past medical, social, family and occupational history.  He noted Employee initially denied any preexisting health problems other than gallstones and having “1/2 a thyroid.”  After further questioning she later endorsed “a little bit of intestine issues,” that she had GERD with H. pylori, preexisting intermittent cold sores on her upper lip, and preexisting intermittent headaches with acute sinus infections.  (SIME report at 7).  Dr. Holmes contrasted Employee’s reporting with the medical records which demonstrated a chronic history of coughing and choking, with chronic tonsillitis in the 90’s, complaints of fatigue dating to the 90’s, preexisting history of right ear and head symptoms radiating down in the right posterior and anterior neck and right side, documented history of B12 supplementation and B12 deficiency, allergic rhinitis with facial fullness and pressure, sinus infection, lower extremity pitting edema and elevated liver transaminases, and prescriptions for anxiety and depression.  (Id.).
90. On physical examination Dr. Holmes reported Employee sat comfortably for the entire interview, was able to answer all questions, and did not display any obvious cognitive deficits, there was no confusion, stupor or evidence to support a diagnosis of any significant encephalopathy.  She was able to follow simple directions, her memory was good, she spoke fluidly and without distress, was alert and oriented, and had no respiratory distress or wheezing.  (SIME report at 8-9).  Dr. Holmes noted Employee meets the criteria for obesity, having a BMI of 32.6.  Dr. Holmes reported Employee’s head, eyes, ears, nose and throat were normal, but her upper lip demonstrated signs of past cold sores.  Her chest and lungs were clear, she had normal muscle tone and strength in all extremities, normal sensory examination, and no obvious skin abnormalities in the areas claimed, with her anterior neck absent of any lesions, rash or discoloration.  (Id.).
91. Dr. Holmes diagnosed the following:
a)  Partial thyroidectomy resulting in chronic hypothyroidism, partially treated with cytomel and synthroid;
b) Preexisting anxiety and adjustment disorder with ongoing symptoms of Anxiety disorder;
c) Preexisting irritable bowel syndrome and dysphagia;
d) Preexisting chronic tonsillitis with associated chronic coughing and choking;
e) Preexisting allergic rhinitis/sinusitis with associated episodic right ear and head symptoms, facial fullness, and nasal drainage;
f) Preexisting B12 deficiency and B12 supplementation prior to industrial chemical exposures;
g) Preexisting arthralgias of the neck and shoulders;
h) Preexisting symptoms of fatigue which are likely to be multifactorial and not all related to hypothyroidism given her obesity and sleep history suggestive of sleep apnea;
i) Preexisting skin eruptions and cold sores of the upper lip; 
j) Possible food allergies, not yet delineated, unrelated to chemical exposure incidents;
k) Acute chemical irritant reaction (manifested by ocular and mucosal irritation) to industrial chemical exposures including cleaning fluids.  Full resolution within days of exposure without residual permanent injury or disease evident on any objective test of exam.  (SIME report 29-30).
92. Dr. Holmes opined that Employee’s medical records completed by Mr. Ursel document a probable acute conjunctival and mucous irritation reaction to the initial chemical spill on August 10, 2009, setting off her documented allergic rhinitis and acid reflux.  He concluded Employee does not demonstrably manifest any new acquired symptoms beyond what she was already experiencing on a recurring basis pre-industrially.  She does not have any new objectively identified acquired chronic disease since the exposures, which were self-limited and short-lived irritations resolving within days without any permanent residuals.  (SIME 31).

93. With respect to Dr. Ziem’s micronutrient testing and prescriptions for Employee totaling $2,860.83, Dr. Holmes noted the testing revealed deficiencies in Vitamin B12, Calcium, Selenium, and Spectrox™, Employee had a long history of B12 deficiency pre-dating her workplace chemical exposure, and there is no known mainstream scientific basis for using micronutrient testing for assessing chemical exposure, or for treating toxic exposure with  vitamin and mineral supplements.  (SIME report 22-23).

94. Concerning Dr. Ziem’s diagnoses of chemical injury to the bowel, toxic encephalopathy and upper and lower reactive airway disease, or multiple chemical sensitivity, Dr. Holmes opined that from his review of the hundreds of pages of medical records, testing and examinations, there is no objective evidence to support Dr. Ziem’s diagnoses.  There is no symptom pattern, objective test result or examination, nor any evidence of any ingestion of a toxic chemical to support diagnoses of chemical injury to the bowel, or toxic encephalopathy.  Nor is there any evidence of reactive airway disease.  There was never any reported respiratory distress, no wheezing, and no objective spirometry result.  (SIME at 31).  Concerning a diagnosis of “multiple chemical sensitivity,” Dr. Holmes, quoting the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology states:”  “A causal connection between environmental chemicals, foods, and/or drugs and the patient’s symptoms continues to be speculative and cannot be based on the results of currently published scientific studies.”  Rather, he opines, “there are many complex psychiatric, psychosocial and physiological processes that intertwine to lead to the symptoms alleged by many patients labeled with MCS. There is no established chemical exposure that causes the alleged symptoms of MCS. . . [t]here is no scientifically proven effective treatment for MCS. . . [t]here is no objective basis upon which to conclude that the alleged exposure incidents caused MCS.”  (SIME at 32).

95. Discussing in turn each of the chemicals to which exposure is alleged, Dr. Holmes notes the August 10, 2010 ethylene glycol spill was of a hyper-diluted glycol mixure following a cold water flush of the system resulting in a six to ten gallon spill.  He concluded inhalable vapors would have been minimal, with none detectable by August 21, 2010, when the Nortech investigation was done.  He noted it important to point out that ethylene glycol irritation occurs mainly with ingestion, not with dermal, ocular or mucosal contact, and no chronic effects have been found associated with inhalation and skin exposure of ethylene glycol, noting millions of people use it in the form of antifreeze every day, with inhalation and skin exposure, without permanent effect.    (SIME report at 35-36).   The effects of propylene glycol, and photographic fixer chemical are similar, with only potential acute and transient eye and skin irritation unless ingested.  Acute respiratory effects have been observed to include burning sensation in the trachea and burning cough, as well as nasal irritation where exposure was to aerosolized glycol due to heating, which was not the case here.  He further noted “general purpose cleaners” often contain irritants such as ammonia or chlorine, which can also cause transient eye or throat irritations.  (Id.).

96. Dr. Holmes concluded “there is simply no demonstrable evidence of aggravation of her preexisting recurring chronic ailments and there is no evidence that she developed a new chronic and persisting disease entity from her exposures to the chemicals described . . . The mechanism of injury and described exposure are not consistent with having caused a harmful or toxic level of exposure. . . . Ms. Irland has multiple chronic illnesses and symptoms that pre-existed the industrial chemical exposure and are not caused by or permanently aggravated by the alleged industrial exposure.”  (Id. at 36).  

97. Concerning optometrist Dr. Marcum’s opinion that Employee’s dry eye syndrome was “highly likely” to have been caused by multiple chemical sensitivity given Employee’s reported cause and effect, Dr. Holmes states there is no “cause-effect relationship” in the literature between chemical exposure and dry eye syndrome.  (SIME report at 24).  This is consistent with ophthalmologist Dr. Guess’ opinion.  (Observation).

98. Concerning whether Dr. Ziem’s prescribed treatment is reasonable and necessary, Dr. Holmes opined that while it appears Dr. Ziem seems sincere in her belief she has identified a disease process, has found a causal link and an effective treatment, based on Dr. Holmes experience and knowledge, and his examination of current published literature in mainstream scientific journals, it is his opinion the treatment proposed, including the initial consultation, ongoing prescriptions and recommended future treatments are not reasonable and necessary as a result of the alleged exposures at work.  (Id. at 38-39).  Dr. Ziem’s prescriptions for “micronutrients” and for continuing treatment is unsubstantiated, not scientifically supported and definitely not established as effective for exposure to ethylene glycol exposure or any of the other chemicals allegedly spilled.  (Id. at 39).  Dr. Holmes concurred with Dr. Stumpp’s assertion that Dr. Ziem’s treatment for chemical exposure is “twentieth century snakeoil.”  (Id.).  

99. Dr. Holmes concluded Employee reasonably suffered an acute ocular and mucosal irritation that was self-limited, short-lived, and reached medical stability within days of the initial exposure incidents, and there was no permanent or substantial aggravation of any pre-existing condition by the alleged work exposures.  (Id.).  Dr. Holmes added he believes Employee is not malingering or manufacturing complaints, and does suffer current symptoms, but they are related to her preexisting conditions and not to industrial chemical exposures.”  (Id.).  “It is my expert opinion that she shows absolutely no current objective evidence of any chemical exposure related disease attributable to the alleged work incidents.”  (Id. at 40).


PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001. Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

(1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

(2) workers’ compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute;

. . .

(4) hearings in workers’ compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

AS 23.30.010. Coverage.  (a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee's need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment.  To establish a presumption under AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability or death or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment. When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.
AS 23.30.095.  Medical examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  

AS 23.30.120 Presumptions.  In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

Under AS 23.30.120(a)(1), benefits sought by an injured worker are presumed to be compensable.  The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute, including medical and continuing benefits.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996); Municipality v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661 at 664-665.  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.  Sokolowski v. Best Western Golden Lion, 813 P.2d 286, 292 (Alaska 1991).

Application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  To attach the presumption of compensability, an employee must first adduce “some” “minimal” “relevant evidence” establishing a "preliminary link" between his or her disability or need for medical care and the employment. Cheeks v. Widmer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to make that connection.  Burgess Constr. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).   In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish the connection.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  In making the preliminary link determination, the board does not assess witness credibility. Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).  
If the employee establishes the preliminary link, the burden shifts to the employer.  If the employer can present substantial evidence demonstrating that a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the disability or need for medical treatment, the presumption is rebutted.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, AWCAC Decision No. 150 (Mar. 25, 2011) at 7.  “Substantial evidence” is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051, 1054 (Alaska 1994) citing Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941 (Alaska 1992).  The employer’s evidence is also considered in isolation, with credibility is not examined at this stage in the analysis.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-870 (Alaska 1985). 

Where the presumption is raised and not rebutted, the claimant need produce no further evidence and prevails solely on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.  Williams v. State, 938 P.2d 1065 (Alaska 1997).  If the employer rebuts the presumption, it drops out, and the employee must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that in relation to other causes, employment was the substantial cause of the disability or need for medical treatment. Should the employee meet this burden, compensation or benefits are payable.”  Runstrom at 8.  

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

The board has the sole power to determine witness credibility, and its findings about weight are conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting.  De Rosario v. Chenega Corporation, 297 P.3d 139, 146-147(Alaska 2013); Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., 204 P.3d 1001, 1008 (Alaska 2009); Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007).  This tenet also pertains to medical testimony.  The board has the sole discretion to determine the weight to be accorded medical testimony and reports.  When doctors’ opinions disagree, the board determines which has greater credibility.  Moore v. Afognak Native Corp., AWCAC Decision No. 087 (August 25, 2008) at 11.

AS 23.30.145. Attorney fees.  (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation. When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. When the board advises that a claim has not been controverted, but further advises that bona fide legal services have been rendered in respect to the claim, then the board shall direct the payment of the fees out of the compensation awarded. In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

AS 23.30.150.  Commencement of compensation.  Compensation may not be allowed for the first three days of the disability, except the benefits provided for in AS 23.30.095; if, however, the injury results in disability of more than 28 days, compensation shall be allowed from the date of the disability.

AS 23.30.185. Compensation for temporary total disability.  

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability. Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.
“Once an employee is disabled, the law presumes that the employee's disability continues until the employer produces substantial evidence to the contrary.” Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, 280 P.3d 567, 573 (Alaska 2012) citing Grove v. Alaska Constructors & Erectors, 948 P.2d 454, 458 (Alaska 1997).

“The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.”  Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974).

AS 23.30.190.  Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides.
(a) In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person. The percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person is the percentage of impairment to the particular body part, system, or function converted to the percentage of impairment to the whole person as provided under (b) of this section. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041 but the compensation may not be discounted for any present value considerations.

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, except that an impairment rating may not be rounded to the next five percent. The board shall adopt a supplementary recognized schedule for injuries that cannot be rated by use of the American Medical Association Guides.

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall be reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury. If the combination of a prior impairment rating and a rating under (a) of this section would result in the employee being considered permanently totally disabled, the prior rating does not negate a finding of permanent total disability.

ANALYSIS

1. Were workplace chemical exposures the substantial cause of Employee’s alleged disability and need for continuing medical treatment?

The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act provides benefits, including medical and associated transportation costs, TTD, PPI, interest, attorney fees and costs, when an employment injury is the substantial cause of disability or need for medical treatment. To be the substantial cause of disability or need for medical treatment, out of all possible causes, employment must be the greatest cause.  Employee’s entitlement to benefits turns on factual issues to which the presumption of compensability applies.  

At the first stage of the presumption analysis, where credibility is not assessed, Employee has raised the presumption of compensability through her deposition testimony she developed physiological symptoms following her exposures to workplace chemicals, through P.A. Ursel, whose medical records reflect a belief Employee’s symptoms were temporally and thus causally related to her workplace chemical exposures, and she suffers “multiple chemical sensitivity syndrome,” and through Dr. Ziem’s written opinion Employee’s symptoms reflect her development of toxic encephalopathy and upper and lower reactive airway disease as a result of her workplace chemical exposures.  

At the second stage of the analysis, again without considering witness credibility, Employer has successfully rebutted the presumption through the testimony of Dr. Stumpp, who testified consistently with his written report that Employee suffered only an acute irritation of the eyes, nose and throat as a result of chemical exposures, there is no objective evidence she sustained any occupational disease from her employment, or that the air quality conditions within SCCC aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce disability or need for continuing treatment.  Where, as here, Employer has overcome the presumption of compensability, the burden returns to Employee, who must prove all elements of her claim by a preponderance of evidence.  At the third stage of the analysis, the board examines and weighs all of the evidence and assesses witness credibility.  

The most persuasive evidence is the reporting and opinion of SIME physician Dr. Holmes, a toxicologist and occupational medicine specialist, whose evaluation was the most thorough of all involved physicians, who, in addition to examining Employee, reviewed Employee’s medical records dating back to 1987, the Nortech and Aware evaluation reports, Mr. Ursel’s deposition testimony, the MSDS for Dowtherm -1 heat transfer fluid, and the scientific literature.  Also supportive is the reporting and testimony of EME physician Dr. Stumpp, another expert in the field of occupational medicine.  In addition to examining Employee, Dr. Stumpp reviewed some of Employee’s pre- as well as post-exposure medical records, the Nortech and Aware reports, and the MSDS for all potentially involved chemicals.  Both experts concurred the objective evidence supported a finding Employee suffered acute ocular and mucosal irritation as a result of chemical exposures at work, resulting symptoms were time-limited, and resolved with no occupational disease resulting, nor any aggravation, acceleration or exacerbation of a pre-existing condition.  Dr. Holmes was convincing in his assertion Employee’s subjective post-exposure symptoms were in fact symptoms she has been suffering, reporting to multiple providers and treating for many years.  Employee’s medical records as far back as 1987, and continuing over the years, reflect complaints similar to many of Employee’s continuing complaints.  As only one example, as early as 1998, Employee reported allergy to latex caused her swollen lips, tingling around the mouth, wheezing, nasal discharge and contact dermatitis (SIME 0135, 0203, 0214, 0220, 0258).  Dr. Robinson’s opinion Employee’s symptoms were not characteristic of ethylene glycol exposure is consistent with Drs. Holmes and Stumpp’s opinions her symptoms were not causally connected to her workplace.

Even treating PA Ursel, who diagnosed “multiple chemical sensitivity” (MCS) after having the diagnosis brought to his attention by Employee, readily admitted he had no training in toxicology, had never heard of MCS before Employee provided him with her internet research, had never treated anyone with chemical sensitivities, was unaware Employee had been reporting to multiple providers over the years similar symptoms to those she was reporting to him, and erroneously believed Employee’s exposure was to a concentrated glycol solution, which he admitted was an important fact he failed to consider.  Mr. Ursel agreed MCS is an unproven hypothesis and current treatment methods represent only an experimental methodology.  Perhaps most significant is Mr. Ursel’s concession given his limited knowledge of chemical sensitivity he would defer to the expertise of a toxicologist, such as Dr. Holmes, on a causal relationship, if any, between Employee’s symptoms and her workplace exposures. 

Dr. DeMers, also an occupational medicine specialist like Drs. Stumpp and Holmes, diagnosed acute irritation or exacerbation of Employee’s allergic rhinitis, perhaps from workplace exposure, and did not diagnose an occupational disease such as MCS, toxic encephalopathy, or reactive airway disease.  Moreover, Dr. DeMers suggested Employee’s symptoms could also result from exposure to mold.  Notably, Dr. Ziem conceded Employee’s reported symptoms are consistent with exposure to mold when she endorsed Employee’s reported exacerbation of symptoms following exposure to a “moldy smell” in Dr. Stumpp’s office, yet according to Dr. Ziem mold could not exist in Employee’s workplace. 

Ophthalmologist Dr. Guess did not attribute Employee’s dry eye syndrome to her workplace, writing prominently on the Physician Report form Employee filled out for his signature, the cause was “Undetermined,” and Employee’s complaints were “common problems seen in people w/o chemical exposure.”  Indeed, Dr. Guess specifically stated that Dr. Ziem’s recommended treatment with L Glutathione for Employee’s complaints is contraindicated in someone suffering dry eye syndrome.  Optometrist Dr. Marcum’s August 23, 2010 opinion Employee’s dry eye syndrome was “highly likely” caused by her exposure to workplace chemicals is of little or no probative value, given his lack of professional qualifications to make such a statement, and having only one contact with Employee six weeks prior when she came into Costco for a new corrective lens prescription.  

Dr. Ziem stands alone among the many medical providers in her assertion Employee suffers toxic encephalopathy, upper and lower reactive airway disease, and continuing disability from her workplace exposures at SCCC.   Moreover, the totality of Dr. Ziem’s actions in this case reflect an overzealous advocate for a suspect cause, rather than a persuasive physician acting within recognized tenets of professional medicine.   

Comparing Employee’s reporting to Drs. Stumpp and Holmes with her documented medical history, and her representations to Dr. Ziem about Dr. Marcum’s assertions concerning nerve damage to her eyes, among other examples, Employee is not an accurate historian.  Yet Dr. Ziem relied substantially on Employee’s reporting, failed to review Employee’s medical records prior to August, 2010, and made significant inaccurate assumptions upon which she then relied for her diagnoses.  Dr. Ziem erroneously believed Employee’s health prior to her employment at SCCC “was good . . . no fatigue or lack of endurance . . . She had no frequent or chronic health problems prior to her exposure.”  The overwhelming evidence demonstrates Employee has several documented chronic health problems, including Hashimoto’s thyroiditis, and gallstones, and as far back as 1987 has been reporting symptoms similar to those she has been reporting since the chemical exposures.  These symptom complaints are described more fully in Finding of Fact 3, and include but are not limited to persistent throat and gastric issues, allergic rhinitis, post-nasal drip and sinus problems, swollen and tingling lips and tongue, cold sores, rashes, vertigo, lightheadedness and nausea.  Employee has complained of fatigue for years for which she has long treated with Vitamin B-12, multivitamins and cranberry pills. 

Dr. Ziem’s conclusions are also based on the erroneous assumption Employee was prescribed Allegra-D, Protonix, ranitidine, and furosemide for the first time as a result of symptoms from chemical exposures at work.  The evidence demonstrates Employee had been prescribed Allegra-D at least as far back as April 29, 2003, after reporting sinus congestion, nausea, dizziness and vomiting.  (SIME 0231).  In July, 2004, Employee told a provider she took Allegra D for postnasal drip and nasal congestion.  (SIME 0245).   As recently as three months prior to the first workplace exposure, on May 5, 2009, she requested a “refill on Allegra D” from Mr. Ursel. (SIME 0268).  Employee was prescribed Protonix at least as far back as November, 2002, following an endoscopy for complaints of abdominal discomfort, ultimately diagnosed as active gastritis, H. pylori colonization, and large hiatal hernia, and at least through July, 2004.  (SIME 0194-0207, 0227, 0245).  Prior to the Protonix prescription, and at least as far back as August, 2002, Employee was prescribed Prevacid and Pepcid for similar abdominal or gastric complaints. (SIME 0168, 0169, 0180).  In July, 2004, Employee requested refills of both Allegra and Protonix from a provider.  (SIME 0245).  Furosemide, called “a water pill,” is used to reduce swelling from fluid retention caused by various medical problems, including thyroid, heart or liver disease. (SIME 253).  Employee’s history of lower extremity pitting edema and elevated liver transaminases dates back to 2002, with recurrence in 2005.  She was prescribed Dyazide in 2005 for pitting edema.  (SIME 0163, 0253). 

In reaching her diagnoses of toxic encephalopathy and reactive airway disease, Dr. Ziem made further assumptions unsupported by the evidence, some of which would have been based on Employee’s representations.  Concerning the August 10, 2009 spill, Dr. Ziem stated “Remediation was improperly conducted . . . A shop vac was used and was observed to have collected between 75 and 100 gallons.  This was discarded in a sewer drain in the medical area that drained into a holding pound (sic pond);” (Ziem report, June 15, 2010, at 2, SIME 0378).  Employee testified she estimated the spill amount at 50-70 gallons, yet impartial eyewitness reporting limited the spill volume to what fit in the 12-gallon wet vac used to clean it up.  

Dr. Ziem stated “There is an ongoing problem of leaks from the glycol ether heat exchange system that preceded the major August 10, 2009 spill.”  (SIME 0362).  There was no evidence introduced of a previous spill.  

Dr. Ziem reported “[t]he use of propylene glycol has not ceased.”  The heat transfer fluid is comprised of ethylene glycol.  Dr. Ziem referred to the spill as “95% ethylene glycol.”  The spill was of hyper-diluted water/glycol mixture following a flush of the system with water, after a 62/38 glycol/water solution had been successfully drained.

Dr. Ziem alleged the SCCC furnace boiler had gone 23 years without maintenance prior to August, 2009, and when Dow Chemical was called, it indicated a specialist was needed to clean the lines correctly, especially since they had not been maintained for so long. There is no evidence in the record to support either of these allegations. 

With respect to Employee’s January 11, 2010 exposure to pepper spray, Dr. Ziem reported that within SCCC, pepper spray “is not only used for inmate control . . . but also for inmate punishment and target practice on inmates during training .  .  .”  suggesting nurses are repeatedly exposed to pepper spray when called on to treat inmates for exposures.  Again, no evidence supports any such use of pepper spray.  

To support her conclusion Employee  suffered cognitive deficits from chemical exposures at work, Dr. Ziem reported Employee had a “past good math ability.” There is no objective evidence of Employee’s past math ability.

To explain the objective fact Employee  lungs were clear when Dr. Ziem examined her on June 15, 2010,  Dr. Ziem reasoned it was because Employee had spent many hours in a nontoxic office and had stayed overnight in “nontoxic housing.”  The evidence demonstrates that Employee’s lungs were clear on every examination conducted by every medical provider following each and every reported exposure.  

After Employee saw Dr. Ziem on June 15, 2010, all other contact between Dr. Ziem and Employee was by telephone between Employee’s home in Seward, Alaska, and Dr. Ziem’s office in Maryland.  From thousands of miles away, Dr. Ziem reported Employee “suffered an adrenal-damaging event from surveillance undertaken by Employer,” when in fact no surveillance had taken place.  

Also from a telephone consult following the EME with Dr. Stumpp, Dr. Ziem reported Employee’s symptoms were exacerbated by ammonia and mold in Dr. Stumpp’s office.  Yet Dr. Stumpp detected no symptoms consistent with ammonia or mold exposure, and blood testing ordered by Dr. Ziem and conducted by SpectraCell Labs following the EME reflected earlier nutrient deficiencies had become normalized.  (Dr. Holmes report at 27).

Dr. Ziem contended  Employee’s lips and tongue swelled from exposures in Dr. Stumpp’s office.  but Dr. Stumpp refused to look at her lips and tongue.  Dr. Stumpp’s report, however, reflects he performed a complete physical examination, including of Employee’s head, ears, eyes, nose and throat, and noted all were normal.  

Following another telephone consult Dr. Ziem reported “They continue to harass her from the prison and Alaska Workers’ Comp., to the point where it’s affecting her recovery . . . Pt gets better with my treatment, then worse after harassment.”  This event was reported as occurring on or about August 10, 2010, while Employee was off work and receiving TTD, so it is unclear how she was being harassed “from the prison.”  

In reaching her diagnoses and treatment recommendations, Dr. Ziem made unsubstantiated remarks reflecting bias on her part.  Credibility suffers in the absence of objectivity.  With respect to Employee’s exposure to pepper spray, Dr. Ziem opined “Unnecessary exposures occur as well, including the excessive use of pepper spray . . . After this abuse of inmates, they are sent to the medical unit for evaluation.”  (italics added).  “Remediation was improperly conducted . . .” (italics added).  Employee “is being forced to see an IME.”  (italics added). 

Numerous statements made and actions taken by Dr. Ziem, including her accusation of malpractice by Dr. Robinson, her threats to Dr. Bardana, and her over-the-telephone diagnoses including unsubstantiated allegations of surveillance undertaken causing Employee an exacerbation of symptoms, among others, reflect a serious lack professionalism by Dr. Ziem, and an overzealousness bordering on advocacy,  further diminishing her credibility.  

Finally, Dr. Ziem’s causation opinion, that Employee’s workplace chemical exposures caused her to develop chronic toxic encephalopathy and reactive airway disease, is based only on hypothesis  unsupported by scientific method, inquiry and evidence.  Her recommended treatment with massive amounts of vitamins, minerals and “micronutrients” are not scientifically supported as treatment for industrial chemical exposure, and are not established effective treatments for ethylene glycol exposure or for exposure to any of the chemicals to which Employee was reportedly exposed.   For all of these reasons, no weight is accorded the opinions and diagnoses of Dr. Ziem.  

Finally, one cannot help but wonder whether and to what extent Dr. Ziem profits from sales of the “Antioxidant Ziem” she prescribes for her patients, and whether and to what extent Dr. Ziem and SpectraCell Labs profit when Dr. Ziem’s patients’ “Spectrox™” levels are low on repeated blood-testing and thus more Spectrox™ prescribed.  

Based on the totality of evidence, Employee has failed to prove by a preponderance of evidence her workplace exposures were the substantial cause of any disability or need for medical treatment beyond the initial visits to Mr. Ursel for symptomatic relief following the August 10, 2009 exposure.  Employee has failed to prove by a preponderance of evidence her workplace exposures aggravated, accelerated or exacerbated her pre-existing recurring chronic ailments causing a new chronic and persisting disease entity.  

2. Is Employee entitled to medical and related transportation expenses?

An employer is responsible for medical and related transportation expenses for workplace injuries.  AS 23.30.095(a).  Because Employee has failed to prove by a preponderance of evidence her workplace exposures were the substantial cause of anything other than acute time-limited symptoms for which little more than a visit or two to her primary care provider immediately following the exposure was called for, Employee is not entitled to medical and related transportation expenses beyond her initial visits to P.A. Ursel, and to Dr. DeMers, for symptomatic relief. 

3. Is Employee entitled to TTD benefits?

Temporary total disability benefits are payable for a compensable injury causing a loss of earning capacity of greater than three consecutive days duration.  AS 23.30.150; AS 23.30.185.  Employee was deemed medically stable and was returned to work after each reported exposure for which she sought medical attention.  She was released from work for only one day until Mr. Ursel released her for three days to travel to Maryland to see Dr. Ziem.  She never lost greater than three consecutive days’ work, and indeed continued to work for 10 months following the initial exposure, and through reported successive exposures, until she was taken off work by Dr. Ziem on June 10, 2010, several months after her last reported exposure.  

Employee received TTD from June, 2010 until Employer controverted benefits based on Dr. Stumpp’s October 11, 2010 EME report.  Because Employee has failed to prove by a preponderance of evidence her workplace exposures were the substantial cause of anything other than acute time-limited symptoms for which no compensable work time was lost, Employee is not entitled to an award of additional TTD benefits.   

4. Is Employee entitled to PPI benefits?

Permanent partial impairment benefits are payable in the case of an impairment partial in character but permanent in quality.  AS 23.30.190.  Drs. Stumpp and Holmes opined Employee did not suffer any permanent impairment as a result of workplace exposures. Drs. DeMers and Guess, and P.A. Ursel had no opinion on permanent impairment.  For the reasons outlined above, Dr. Ziem’s assessment Employee suffers a permanent impairment from workplace exposures is accorded no weight.  Employee has failed to prove by a preponderance of evidence her workplace exposures were the substantial cause of anything other than acute time-limited symptoms, for which no permanent impairment has been identified or rated.  Employee is not entitled to PPI benefits.

5. Is Employee entitled to interest, attorney fees and costs?

Interest is payable when compensation is due yet unpaid.  Attorney fees and costs are payable where an Employer controverts benefits and an employee hires an attorney who is successful in obtaining benefits on the employee’s behalf.  Here, while Employee is entitled to medical benefits for her initial visits to Mr. Ursel following exposure, and for PA Ursel’s referral to Dr. DeMers, there is no evidence these provider visits, for which Mr. Ursel and Dr. DeMers completed the requisite Physician Report forms, were ever controverted.  Indeed, the only controversions appearing in the file are dated September 13, 2010, for reimbursement for the costs of corrective lenses, and November 2, 2010, for further treatment, based on Dr. Stumpp’s EME report opining there is no objective evidence of occupational disease requiring further treatment or testing.  Since no further compensation is payable, and because Employee has not prevailed on her claim for further medical benefits, TTD, or PPI, no award of interest, attorney fees or costs may be made.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1. Workplace chemical exposures were not the substantial cause of Employee’s disability and need for continuing medical treatment.

2. Employee is not entitled to medical and related transportation expenses beyond her initial visits to Brent Ursel, P.A. for symptomatic relief, and the referral to Dr. DeMers. 

3. Employee is not entitled to TTD benefits.

4. Employee is not entitled to PPI benefits.

5. Employee is not entitled to interest, attorney fees and costs.

ORDER
Employee’s claim for continuing medical benefits, TTD, PPI, interest, attorney fees and costs is DENIED.  Employee’s claim for medical and transportations expenses beyond initial visits to Brent Ursel, P.A. for symptomatic relief, and referral to Dr. DeMers, is DENIED.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on July ___, 2013.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision and becomes effective when filed in the Board’s office, unless it is appealed.  Any party in interest may file an appeal with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the date this decision is filed.  All parties before the Board are parties to an appeal.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied because the Board takes no action on reconsideration, whichever is earlier.

A party may appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from; 2) a statement of the grounds for the appeal; and 3) proof of service of the notice and statement of grounds for appeal upon the Director of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division and all parties.  Any party may cross-appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  Whether appealing or cross-appealing, parties must meet all requirements of 8 AAC 57.070.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of MARY J. IRLAND employee / applicant; v. STATE OF ALASKA, self-insured employer; Case Nos. 201009623M, 201017720, 201014353, 201014354, 200915541, 200911403, 201014355; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, and served upon the parties this 8th day of July, 2013.






Kimberly Weaver, Clerk
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� “tonsillolith” also known as tonsil stones or tonsilar calculus, are clusters of calcified material that form in the crevices of the tonsils . . . They are composed mostly of calcium, but may contain other minerals such as phosphorus and magnesium as well as ammonia and carbonate. . . Symptoms include halitosis, pain when swallowing, metallic taste, throat closing or tightening, coughing fits, choking, tonsil swelling, tonsil infection, sore throat, bad taste in the back of the throat, difficulty swallowing, and earache.  http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tonsillolith


� The SIME binders are a compilation of all available relevant medical records prepared for the physician conducting a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) pursuant to AS 23.30.095(k) and 8 AAC 45.092(h).


� Gastroesophageal reflux disease.  


� “dysphagia,” means difficulty swallowing.  http://www.webmd.com/digestive-disorders/tc/difficulty-swallowing-dysphagia-overview.


� “Helicobacter pylori, H. pylori, is a Gram-negative microaerophilic bacterium found in the stomach . . . present in patients with chronic gastritis . . . Acute infection may appear as an acute gastritis with abdominal pain or nausea. . . Where this develops into chronic gastritis, the symptoms . . . are often those of non-ulcer dyspepsia, stomach pains, nausea, bloating, belching, and sometimes vomiting and black stool.”  http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Helicobacter_pylori. 


� “pyrosis,” means sub-sternal pain or burning sensation, usually associated with regurgitation of acid-peptic gastric juice-into the esophagus;  heartburn.  http://medical-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/pyrosis.


� “dyesthesia,” means “1. distortion of any sense, especially that of touch. 2. an unpleasant abnormal sensation  produced by normal stimuli.  Dorland’s Medical Dictionary for Health Consumers, 2007, http://medical-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/dysesthesia


� “edema,” means “Swelling [or] enlargement of  organs, skin or other body parts.  It is caused by a buildup of fluid in the tissues.  The extra fluid can lead to a rapid increase in weight over a short period of time . . . Edema is described as pitting or non-pitting.  Pitting edema leaves a dent in the skin after you press the area with a finger for about 5 seconds.  The dent will slowly fill back in . . . Causes [include] thyroid disease.  MedlinePlus, U.S. National Library of Medicine, National Institutes of Health, http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/003103.htm.


� Swelling from inflammation of the thyroid gland often resulting in reduced thyroid function (hypothyroidism).  Symptoms include constipation, difficulty concentrating or thinking, dry skin, enlarged neck or presence of goiter, fatigue, hair loss, heavy and irregular periods, intolerance to cold, mild weight gain, small or shrunken thyroid gland, joint stiffness, facial swelling.  MedlinePlus, U.S. National Library of Medicine, National Institutes of Health, http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/000371.htm.


� “Cholelithiasis,” means “the presence or formation of gallstones in the gallbladder or bile ducts.”  The American Heritage® Stedman's Medical Dictionary, Copyright © 2002, 2001, 1995 by Houghton Mifflin Company. Published by Houghton Mifflin Company.


� “Cholelithiasis,” means inflammation of the gallbladder that causes severe abdominal pain.  www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedihealth/PMH00013.


� Tinea versicolor is a long-term fungal infection of the skin.  Tinea versicolor is fairly common.  It is caused by a type of yeast fungus called Pityrosporume ovale.  This fungus is normally found on human skin.  The main symptom is patches of discolored skin that . . . are found on the back, underarms, chest and neck. . . Tinea versicolor is easily treated by applying antifungal medicines to the skin.  Changes in skin color may last for months. . . http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/001465.htm.  


� “Protonix,” or Pantoprazole, is used to treat gastroesophageal reflex disease (GERD), a condition in which backward flow of acid from the stomach causes heartburn . . . It works by decreasing the amount of acid made in the stomach.   http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/druginfo/meds/a601246.html.


� “Rantidine” is used to treat gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), a condition in which backward flow of acid from the stomach causes heartburn . . . it decreases the amount of acid made in the stomach. http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/druginfo/meds/a601106.html.


� “Furosemide,” called “a water pill,” is used to reduce swelling from fluid retention caused by various medical problems, including thyroid, heart or liver disease. (SIME 253). See//http://www.nlm. nih.gov/medlineplus/druginfo/ meds/ a682858 . html.
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